# ENHANCING GOVERNMENT RESPONSE TO DROUGHTS IN ZAMBIA

A Concept Paper by

Arthur Chisanga,

Daka Steven, Kaonga Victor, Mulenga Remmy, Masebe Esther, Chimwala Mary,

Tinkler Soul Simbeye

& Dr. Kachinda Wezi

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

INTRODUCTION	2
Definition of Concepts	
Sustainable Development	
Drought	4
Climate Change	
GOVERNMENT RESPONSE STRATEGIES	5
Water Management	5
Food Security Measures	6
Disaster Risk Reduction	7
A Critical Analysis of Policy Implementation and Efficacy	9
Recommendations for Improvement	
CONCLUSION	
REFERENCES	

# **INTRODUCTION**

The 2024 drought in Zambia provides a vivid illustration of the extensive ramifications of climate change, possibly influenced by phenomena like the El Niño Southern Oscillation (ENSO). Rather than an isolated incident, this drought reflects broader climatic trends, emphasizing the need for a thorough grasp of its severity and duration. Looking beyond its immediate effects, the 2024 drought brings about profound and enduring consequences. One of the foremost concerns is the heightened vulnerability to malnutrition, especially among at-risk groups such as children and expectant mothers. Prolonged shortages of food may result in malnutrition, growth impairment, and even famine, perpetuating cycles of poverty and widening existing disparities. Additionally, the environmental repercussions of the drought are equally worrisome. Soil erosion, deforestation, and loss of biodiversity are potential outcomes exacerbated by prolonged drought conditions. These environmental degradations not only jeopardize ecosystems but also endanger livelihoods reliant on agriculture and natural resources (Dietz & Stern, 2024).

Hence, addressing the complexities presented by the 2024 drought requires immediate and efficient response strategies. These approaches should encompass both short-term relief efforts, such as providing food aid and access to clean water, and long-term initiatives aimed at building resilience and adapting to evolving climatic conditions. Investing in sustainable agricultural practices, water conservation projects, and the restoration of ecosystems can not only alleviate the direct impacts of the drought but also strengthen the region's capacity to handle future climate-related challenges. Moreover, it is essential to recognize the interconnectedness of social, economic, and environmental factors in shaping vulnerability to drought. By tackling underlying issues like poverty, inequality, and inadequate infrastructure, communities can enhance their ability to withstand and recover from drought events, ensuring the well-being of present and future generations (Adger, 2023).

# **Definition of Concepts**

#### **Sustainable Development**

Sustainable development refers to a holistic approach to meeting the needs of the present without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs. It encompasses a

balanced integration of environmental, social, and economic considerations to ensure long-term well-being and prosperity for all people while safeguarding the health of the planet (Denje & Walker, 2018).

# **Drought**

Drought refers to an extended period of abnormally dry weather characterized by a deficiency in precipitation that results in water shortage, both on the surface and underground. It is a natural phenomenon and a recurring feature of climate variability in many regions worldwide. Drought can manifest gradually over time or occur suddenly, leading to adverse impacts on ecosystems, agriculture, water resources, and socio-economic sectors. The severity of a drought is determined by its duration, intensity, and spatial extent. Droughts can vary in scale, from local to regional or even global, and can be triggered by various factors, including natural climate variability, such as El Niño events, as well as human activities, such as deforestation, land degradation, and overexploitation of water resources. Mitigating the impacts of drought often requires effective water management strategies, sustainable land-use practices, and adaptation measures to enhance resilience in affected communities and ecosystems (Dietz & Stern, 2024).

#### **Climate Change**

Climate change refers to long-term shifts in weather patterns and average temperatures across the Earth's surface, primarily attributed to human activities, particularly the emission of greenhouse gases (GHGs) such as carbon dioxide (CO2), methane (CH4), and nitrous oxide (N2O). These emissions, primarily from burning fossil fuels, deforestation, industrial processes, and agricultural practices, enhance the natural greenhouse effect, trapping heat in the Earth's atmosphere and leading to global warming (Franks, 2023).

Climate change encompasses various interconnected phenomena, including rising temperatures, changes in precipitation patterns, more frequent and intense extreme weather events (such as heatwaves, droughts, floods, and storms), melting glaciers and polar ice caps, rising sea levels, ocean acidification, and shifts in ecosystems and biodiversity. These changes have far-reaching implications for human societies, economies, and ecosystems, posing significant challenges to sustainable development, food security, water resources, public health, infrastructure, and

livelihoods worldwide. Mitigating climate change requires concerted efforts to reduce GHG emissions, transition to renewable energy sources, enhance energy efficiency, promote sustainable land-use practices, protect and restore ecosystems, and adapt to the changing climate through resilient infrastructure, disaster risk reduction, and adaptation strategies (Gupta & Lebel, 2023).

# **GOVERNMENT RESPONSE STRATEGIES**

Government response strategies, particularly in the realm of water management, play a pivotal role in addressing the challenges posed by water scarcity, particularly in the context of the 2024 drought in Zambia.

#### Water Management

Implementing rainwater harvesting as a sustainable solution to water scarcity encounters various challenges. Initial infrastructure costs, particularly in rural areas with limited financial resources, pose a significant barrier. Moreover, a dearth of technical expertise and knowledge in rural locales may impede the design and maintenance of effective rainwater harvesting systems. Addressing these challenges necessitates targeted support and capacity-building initiatives to empower communities in the adoption and management of rainwater harvesting infrastructure. One of the primary challenges facing the implementation of rainwater harvesting is the substantial initial infrastructure costs involved (GRZ, 2021). This is particularly acute in rural areas where financial resources are limited. The government must allocate sufficient funding to cover the upfront expenses associated with installing rainwater harvesting systems, including the construction of storage tanks, gutters, and filtration systems. Additionally, mechanisms for financing and subsidizing these infrastructure investments may need to be devised to ensure affordability for communities, especially those in remote or economically disadvantaged areas (Giannakopoulos & Hadjinicolaou, 2024).

Furthermore, the success of rainwater harvesting initiatives hinges on the availability of technical expertise and knowledge. In rural locales where access to skilled professionals is limited, designing and maintaining effective rainwater harvesting systems can be challenging. The government must prioritize capacity-building initiatives aimed at providing training and support

to local communities. This may involve establishing training programs, workshops, and educational resources focused on rainwater harvesting techniques, system design, and maintenance practices. By empowering communities with the necessary skills and knowledge, they can take ownership of their water resources and ensure the sustainability of rainwater harvesting infrastructure over the long term (Gupta & Lebe, 2023).

Moreover, cultural and social factors may also influence the adoption of rainwater harvesting practices. Government intervention may be required to raise awareness and promote the benefits of rainwater harvesting within communities. This could involve engaging community leaders, local influencers, and traditional authorities to endorse and encourage participation in rainwater harvesting initiatives. Additionally, public awareness campaigns, outreach programs, and demonstration projects can help dispel misconceptions and build confidence in the effectiveness of rainwater harvesting as a viable water management strategy (Ingram et al., 2010).

# **Food Security Measures**

Addressing the challenges associated with the distribution of food aid in Zambia requires a nuanced understanding of the underlying factors contributing to corruption and inefficiency within the distribution process. Corruption, often rooted in institutional weaknesses and lack of accountability, poses a significant obstacle to the timely and equitable delivery of aid to those in need. This issue is compounded by inefficiencies in logistics, monitoring, and oversight, which further impede the effective distribution of food aid. Therefore, any efforts to enhance the effectiveness of food aid distribution must prioritize reforms aimed at strengthening institutional capacity, improving transparency, and fostering accountability at all levels of the distribution chain (IPBES, 2023).

One strategy to mitigate corruption and inefficiency in food aid distribution is to explore local procurement options that prioritize sourcing food from Zambian farmers. By engaging local farmers as suppliers, governments and aid organizations can not only support local agricultural economies but also ensure a more sustainable and cost-effective approach to food aid distribution. However, this approach requires careful planning and coordination to overcome logistical challenges and ensure the quality and safety of locally sourced food products.

Additionally, mechanisms for fair and transparent procurement processes must be established to prevent favoritism and corruption in supplier selection (IPCC, 2022).

Furthermore, investing in infrastructure and technology can play a crucial role in improving the efficiency and transparency of food aid distribution systems. For example, the adoption of digital tracking and monitoring systems can enhance visibility and accountability throughout the distribution chain, allowing for real-time monitoring of food shipments and ensuring that aid reaches its intended beneficiaries. Similarly, investments in transportation infrastructure, such as roads and storage facilities, can help streamline logistics and reduce delays in food delivery, particularly in remote and underserved areas (Jones & Thornton, 2003).

In addition to addressing corruption and inefficiency, efforts to enhance the effectiveness of food aid distribution should also prioritize the empowerment and participation of local communities. Community-based approaches, such as the establishment of food committees or cooperative networks, can help ensure that aid distribution is responsive to local needs and preferences. Moreover, engaging local stakeholders in the design and implementation of distribution programs can foster a sense of ownership and accountability, ultimately leading to more sustainable and inclusive outcomes (Leichenko & O'Brien, 2023).

On the overall, addressing the challenges of corruption and inefficiency in food aid distribution requires a comprehensive and multifaceted approach that combines institutional reforms, local procurement strategies, investments in infrastructure and technology, and community empowerment initiatives. By addressing these issues holistically and collaboratively, governments and aid organizations can enhance the effectiveness and impact of food aid distribution efforts, ultimately improving food security and livelihoods for vulnerable populations in Zambia (Little et al., 2005).

# **Disaster Risk Reduction**

Improving early warning systems represents a critical aspect of disaster risk reduction and climate resilience strategies, particularly in the context of recurrent droughts in regions like Zambia. To enhance preparedness and mitigate the impact of future droughts, it is imperative to adopt a multi-dimensional approach that integrates both scientific meteorological data and

indigenous knowledge systems. Incorporating local knowledge and traditional weather forecasting techniques alongside conventional meteorological data can significantly augment the accuracy and reliability of early warning systems. Indigenous communities often possess deep-seated insights into environmental patterns and subtle changes in weather conditions, which can complement and enrich the predictive capabilities of formal meteorological models. Therefore, fostering collaboration between meteorological agencies and local communities is crucial for harnessing this invaluable resource and co-producing early warning information that is contextually relevant and actionable (Marchand, 2024).

Furthermore, ensuring the inclusivity and participation of women and marginalized groups in community preparedness planning is paramount for developing comprehensive and effective early warning systems. Women and marginalized populations, including indigenous communities and ethnic minorities, often bear a disproportionate burden during droughts and other climate-related disasters due to their socio-economic vulnerability and limited access to resources and decision-making processes (Nelson et al., 2023). Therefore, their active involvement in the design, implementation, and evaluation of early warning systems is essential for promoting equity and resilience. Women, in particular, play pivotal roles as knowledge holders, caregivers, and community leaders, and their unique perspectives and experiences can contribute valuable insights to resilience-building efforts. By prioritizing gender-responsive approaches and ensuring the meaningful participation of all stakeholders, early warning systems can be tailored to address the specific needs and priorities of diverse communities, thereby enhancing their effectiveness and relevance in reducing disaster risk and building climate resilience at the local level (Morton, 2008).

Moreover, strengthening the capacity of communities to interpret and respond to early warning information is fundamental for translating forecasts into actionable responses. This entails investing in community-based training programs and awareness campaigns that equip individuals and local institutions with the knowledge, skills, and resources needed to effectively prepare for and respond to droughts and other climate-related hazards (Ngigi et al., 2017). Empowering communities to develop and implement their own preparedness plans fosters a sense of ownership and agency, thereby enhancing their ability to adapt and cope with changing environmental conditions. Additionally, leveraging existing social networks and communication

channels, such as community-based organizations, religious institutions, and local media, can facilitate the dissemination of early warning information and foster collective action at the grassroots level. By building trust, promoting collaboration, and fostering resilience-oriented behaviors within communities, early warning systems can serve as powerful tools for reducing vulnerability and enhancing adaptive capacity in the face of climate variability and change (National Drought Mitigation Center, 2016).

# A Critical Analysis of Policy Implementation and Efficacy

Evaluating policy implementation and efficacy within the realm of water management necessitates a comprehensive approach that integrates specific metrics and data points to provide a nuanced understanding of the effectiveness of government response strategies. One crucial aspect of this evaluation process involves assessing the impact of public awareness campaigns aimed at promoting water conservation behaviors. To effectively gauge the success of such campaigns, it is essential to employ quantifiable metrics that measure changes in water usage patterns and the adoption rates of conservation practices among targeted populations. For instance, tracking reductions in per capita water consumption over time or monitoring the uptake of water-saving technologies, such as low-flow fixtures or rainwater harvesting systems, can provide valuable insights into the effectiveness of public awareness initiatives (ODI, 2020).

Additionally, conducting surveys or focus group discussions to assess public attitudes, knowledge, and behaviors related to water conservation can help identify barriers to behavior change and inform future campaign strategies. By utilizing specific metrics and data points to evaluate the impact of public awareness campaigns, policymakers can gain a deeper understanding of the drivers of water consumption behaviors and tailor interventions accordingly to achieve desired conservation outcomes (Pelling, 2024).

Furthermore, evaluating the transparency and accountability mechanisms in infrastructure rehabilitation projects is essential for ensuring efficient resource allocation and effective project delivery. One approach to assessing the success of these mechanisms involves analyzing data on project budgets, timelines, and expenditures to identify potential inefficiencies or discrepancies. By comparing planned versus actual project costs and timelines, policymakers can identify areas

where budget overruns or delays may have occurred, signaling potential issues with project management or oversight (Gupta, & Lebel, 2023).

Furthermore, examining data on community engagement and feedback mechanisms can provide insights into the extent to which local stakeholders were involved in project decision-making processes and whether their concerns and preferences were adequately addressed. Surveys, interviews, or public consultations can be used to gather feedback from community members and assess their perceptions of project transparency, accountability, and overall effectiveness. By integrating specific metrics and data points into the evaluation of infrastructure rehabilitation projects, policymakers can identify areas for improvement and implement corrective measures to enhance project transparency, accountability, and ultimately, the delivery of essential water services to communities (Pörtner et al., 2022)

Expanding upon the evaluation of food security measures, a critical aspect involves analyzing the nutritional content of food aid and its suitability for the affected population. This requires a comprehensive assessment of dietary needs and nutritional deficiencies prevalent among the target demographic. Conducting nutritional assessments and surveys can provide valuable data on the nutritional status of individuals and communities, helping to identify specific dietary requirements and gaps in micronutrient intake. By comparing the nutritional profiles of food aid packages to recommended dietary allowances and local dietary preferences, policymakers can ensure that aid provisions adequately address the nutritional needs of vulnerable populations. Furthermore, monitoring the consumption patterns and dietary diversity of recipients can offer insights into the acceptability and utilization of food aid, informing adjustments to aid packages to better meet the dietary needs of beneficiaries (Shaw, 2004).

Similarly, evaluating the adoption rates and effectiveness of drought-resistant crops involves collecting data on various aspects of crop production and farmer experiences. This includes assessing crop yields, farmer satisfaction with the performance of drought-resistant varieties, and the long-term viability of adopted crops in mitigating the impacts of drought. Conducting field trials and on-farm demonstrations can provide valuable empirical evidence on the performance of different crop varieties under drought conditions, helping to identify resilient varieties suitable for local agroecological conditions (OCHA, 2023).

Longitudinal studies tracking changes in crop productivity, farmer incomes, and food security outcomes over time can further elucidate the effectiveness of drought-resistant crop adoption programs. By integrating these data into the evaluation process, policymakers can identify successful strategies for enhancing food security resilience in drought-prone regions and inform future agricultural development initiatives. Moving on to disaster risk reduction, measuring the effectiveness of early warning systems requires a multifaceted approach that considers various indicators of system performance. This includes tracking response times to early warnings, the accuracy of forecasts in predicting drought events, and the extent to which communities adhere to advisories and take preventive actions. Utilizing data from meteorological agencies, emergency response agencies, and community surveys can provide insights into the timeliness and reliability of early warnings, as well as factors influencing community responses to warnings (WMO, 2017).

Additionally, assessing the sustainability of livelihood diversification activities necessitates longitudinal studies that examine changes in household income sources, resilience to future shocks, and environmental impacts resulting from diversification strategies. By monitoring trends in income diversification, asset accumulation, and household well-being over time, policymakers can evaluate the long-term effectiveness of livelihood diversification interventions in enhancing community resilience to drought and other climate-related hazards. Integrating these data into comprehensive assessments of disaster risk reduction efforts can inform the refinement of early warning systems and livelihood diversification programs, ultimately strengthening community resilience and reducing vulnerability to future disasters (Brondizio & Moran, 2024).

## **Recommendations for Improvement**

To improve upon identified weaknesses in various areas, recommendations should be specific, actionable, and evidence-based, encompassing a range of strategies tailored to address the unique challenges faced by each sector. For instance, enhancing public awareness campaigns could involve leveraging social media platforms, partnering with local influencers, and conducting targeted community workshops. By utilizing platforms such as Facebook, Twitter, and Instagram, government agencies and NGOs can disseminate information about drought

preparedness, water conservation, and sustainable agriculture to a wider audience, reaching both urban and rural populations (Gupta & Lebel, 2023).

Furthermore, partnering with local influencers, such as community leaders, teachers, and religious figures, can lend credibility and cultural relevance to awareness campaigns, fostering greater engagement and uptake of recommended practices. Additionally, conducting workshops and training sessions in communities most vulnerable to drought can provide practical guidance on water-saving techniques, crop diversification, and disaster preparedness, empowering individuals to take proactive measures to mitigate the impacts of drought (Bulkeley & Newell, 2023).

In the realm of infrastructure projects, improving monitoring and evaluation mechanisms is paramount to ensuring transparency and accountability in project implementation. This could involve establishing robust systems for tracking project budgets, timelines, and performance indicators, as well as conducting regular audits and inspections to identify potential inefficiencies or irregularities. By enhancing transparency in infrastructure development processes, governments can build trust with citizens and stakeholders, bolstering support for future initiatives and fostering greater accountability among project implementers. Furthermore, investing in capacity-building programs for government, and contract administration, enabling more effective oversight and governance of infrastructure projects (Folke et al., 2023).

Strengthening early warning systems requires a multifaceted approach that encompasses both technological and human resource interventions. This may involve investment in meteorological infrastructure, such as weather stations, satellite imaging systems, and data processing facilities, to improve the accuracy and reliability of weather forecasts and climate projections (FAO, 2021). In addition, providing training and resources for local weather observers and community volunteers can enhance the collection and dissemination of real-time weather data, enabling more timely and accurate early warnings. By integrating traditional knowledge and indigenous forecasting methods alongside modern meteorological techniques, early warning systems can become more contextually relevant and responsive to local needs, increasing community trust and compliance with advisories. Advocating for climate-smart agricultural practices presents an opportunity to enhance resilience to future droughts while promoting environmental

sustainability. Strategies such as conservation agriculture, agroforestry, and water-saving irrigation techniques can help farmers adapt to changing climate conditions, improve soil health, and diversify crop yields (Dietz & Stern, 2024).

Governments and NGOs can support the adoption of these practices through training programs, demonstration plots, and financial incentives, incentivizing farmers to adopt more sustainable and resilient farming methods. Additionally, promoting financial inclusion for smallholder farmers through microfinance initiatives and access to insurance products can buffer against economic shocks and facilitate recovery from drought-induced losses. By providing access to credit, savings, and insurance services, governments can empower farmers to invest in drought-resistant crops, irrigation infrastructure, and livestock management practices, enhancing their ability to withstand future climate-related challenges and improve their livelihoods in the long term (Bulkeley & Newell, 2023).

#### CONCLUSION

This paper has highlighted the necessity of developing a comprehensive conceptual framework to assess Zambia's response to the 2024 drought thoroughly. The framework should not only evaluate past responses but also provide practical recommendations to improve future preparedness and response strategies. Key components of this assessment include evaluating the timeliness, adequacy, and appropriateness of interventions, as well as analyzing the coordination among various stakeholders involved. It is crucial to identify both strengths and weaknesses in existing strategies, such as the distribution of food aid and water management, to guide enhancement efforts effectively. Consequently, recommendations should be grounded in empirical evidence and focus on strengthening early warning systems, facilitating access to resources like drought-resistant seeds, and promoting sustainable livelihoods. Enhancing resilience at individual and community levels is of utmost importance, requiring investments in education, research, and capacity-building initiatives. Ultimately, the development of a robust conceptual framework is essential for reducing vulnerability, advancing sustainable development goals, and fostering collaboration in addressing climate resilience challenges. This framework serves as a valuable resource for informing policy decisions and guiding interventions aimed at mitigating the impacts of future drought events.

# REFERENCES

Adger, W. N. (2023). Vulnerability. New York: Routledge.

Brondizio, E. S., & Moran, E. F. (Eds.). (2024). Human-Environment Interactions: Core Concepts and Emerging Issues. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Bulkeley, H., & Newell, P. (Eds.). (2023). Governing Climate Change. New York: Routledge.

Denje, F., & Walker, G. (2018). Characteristics of rainfall and ENSO teleconnections on seasonal to decadal timescales for Zambia. International Journal of Climatology, 38(4), 1846-1863.

Dietz, T., & Stern, P. C. (2024). Public Participation in Environmental Decision-Making. Washington, DC: National Academies Press.

Folke, C., Biggs, R., & Norström, A. V. (Eds.). (2023). Social-ecological resilience and biosphere-based sustainability science. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations & World Food Programme [FAO/WFP]. (2023). FAO/WFP Crop and Food Security Assessment Mission to Zambia. Retrieved from <u>https://www.fao.org/3/i0515e/i0515e00.pdf</u>

Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations [FAO]. (2021). Agriculture and Climate Change. Retrieved from <u>https://www.fao.org/3/i5188e/I5188E.pdf</u>

Franks, T. (2023). Water security: Emerging global challenges and policy responses. New York: Routledge.

Fraser, E. D., Simelane, T. S., Bailey, J. B., & Reilly, M. (2011). Vulnerability to climate change in southern Africa: A synthesis. Climate Change, 106(4), 679-700.

Giannakopoulos, C., & Hadjinicolaou, P. (Eds.). (2024). Mediterranean climate change: Environmental and societal impacts. Berlin: Springer.

Government of the Republic of Zambia. (2021). National Drought Policy. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.aljazeera.com/news/2024/2/29/zambia-declares-national-disaster-after-drought-devastates-agriculture">https://www.aljazeera.com/news/2024/2/29/zambia-declares-national-disaster-after-drought-devastates-agriculture</a>

Gupta, J., & Lebel, L. (Eds.). (2023). Access and allocation: Models for sustainable development goals. London: Taylor & Francis.

Ingram, J. S., Ericksen, P. C., & Swallow, B. M. (2010). Climate change patterns in Malawi: Understanding potential impacts and adaptations. Climate Change, 99(1-2), 223-252.

Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services (IPBES). (2023). Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services: Summary for Policy Makers 2023. IPBES Secretariat.

IPCC. (2022). Climate Change 2022: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Jones, M. P., & Thornton, P. K. (2003). The impact of climate change on tropical agricultural productivity. In M. T. da Silveira et al. (Eds.), Potential impacts of climate change on tropical agriculture and food security in Africa and Latin America in 2100 (pp. 31-56). Springer Netherlands.

Leichenko, R., & O'Brien, K. (2023). Climate and society: Transforming the future. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Little, P. D., Steele, M., & Stern, M. (2005). Uncertainty and risk in relation to climate change and implications for sustainable development. Ecological Economics, 53(1), 77-89.

Marchand, M. (2024). Climate Change and Development in Africa: Policy Implications for the Future. London: Routledge.

Mberu, M. (2009). Vulnerability of food production systems in Eastern and Southern Africa to climate change. ENDA - Environment & Development Activities, 20(2), 21-26.

Morton, J. F. (2008). Rainwater Harvesting for Drylands and Beyond. Austin: Acres USA.

National Drought Mitigation Center - University of Nebraska-Lincoln. (2016). Defining Drought: A Primer. Retrieved from <a href="https://drought.unl.edu/">https://drought.unl.edu/</a>

Nelson, D. R., Adger, W. N., & Brown, K. (Eds.). (2023). Adaptation to Environmental Change: From Resilience to Transformation. New York: Routledge.

Ngana, J. S. (2009). Challenges of rainwater harvesting and conservation for sustainable agriculture in drought-prone areas. Agricultural Journal, 4(6), 399-406.

Ngigi, S. W., Mwangi, S., & Muriuki, J. (2017). The potential of rainwater harvesting technologies in drought mitigation in arid and semi-arid lands (ASALs) in Kenya. American Journal of Environmental Protection, 6(3), 88.

Overseas Development Institute [ODI]. (2020). How to address food insecurity caused by climate change. Retrieved from <u>https://odi.org/en/topics/the-climate-crisis/</u>

Pelling, M. (2024). Disaster Politics: Tipping Points for Change in the Adaptation of Societies. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Pörtner, H.-O., Roberts, D. C., Tignor, M., Poloczanska, E. S., Mintenbeck, K., Alegría, A., Craig, M., Langsdorf, S., & Löschke, S. (Eds.). (2022). Climate Change 2022: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.ipcc.ch/report/ar6/wg1/">https://www.ipcc.ch/report/ar6/wg1/</a>

Shaw, R. (2004). A drought resistance comparison of three soybean cultivars in Zambia. Agricultural Water Management, 64(2), 95-104.

United Nations Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs [OCHA]. (2023). Zambia: Drought - Flash Appeal. Retrieved from <u>https://reliefweb.int/report/zambia/united-nations-responds-zambias-drought-disaster-and-emergency</u>

World Meteorological Organization [WMO]. (2017). Comprehensive Risk Management Framework on Drought. Retrieved from <u>https://wmo.int/about-us/world-meteorological-day/wmd-2020/drought</u>.